A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(NOTE: The trial court entered its findings in its Order Granting 

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 232-5) by placing an 

"X" next to the word "Granted" or "Denied".) 

1. The trial court erred in finding that "As a matter of law, 

plaintiffs are unable to prove that, consistent with the First 

Amendment, defendant school district should have censored the 

student's speech ." CP 233, I. 18. 

2. The trial court erred in finding that "Plaintiffs are unable 

to prove defendant Seattle School District was at fault for the student 

speech, and knew or should have known the student's speech was 

false." CP 234, I. 6. 

3. The trial court erred in finding that "The student's report 

that Hugh and Drake Sisley were 'infamous landlords' who had been 

'accused of racist renting policies' is a non-actionable opinion that is 

not defamatory as a matter of law." CP 233, 123. The error was 

compounded because it focused merely on the "racist" statement. 

The more important libel which the trial court ignored in this "non

actionable opinion" finding is the statement in The Roosevelt News: 

"crack shacks owned by the Sisley brothers." (CP 166.) 
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4. The trial court erred in finding that "as a matter of law, 

public school districts ... do not owe a duty to protect non-students, 

such as plaintiff from a student's alleged defamation." CP 233, I. 10. 

B. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Issues as to Assignment of Error No. 1 

(a) Is this finding of the trial court at variance with the 

First Amendment decisions of the United States Supreme Court 

particularly Hazelwood v. Kuhlmeier, 484 U.S. 260, 108 S.Ct. 562, 98 

L.Ed.2d 592 (1988) and Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Comm. 

School Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 89 S.Ct. 733,21 L.Ed .2d 731 (1969), 

where these cases specifically hold that conduct of a student which 

involves "invasion of the rights of others" is not immunized by the 

Constitutional guarantee of freedom of speech. 

(b) Whereas here (as the trial court concluded in 

Finding No.6 on CP 234, I. 2) that the alleged defamatory statement 

was false, does this constitute "invasion of the rights of others" within 

the Hazelwood and Tinker decisions. 

(c) Does this "invasion of the rights of others" raise 

a substantial issue as to a material fact thereby precluding summary 

judgment. 
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2. Issues as to Assignment of Error No.2. 

(a) Is the trial court by this statement surmising or 

predicting whether the plaintiff can prove fault or negligence or is it the 

court's duty on the other hand to determine whether a substantial 

issue as to such a material fact exists, and 

(b) Do the facts in the record that there was a prior 

defamation published by the same newspaper in 2003 (CP 200) that 

was called to the attention of the school's principal together with a 

statement by the principal (CP 194, I. 9) that it would not happen 

again (CP 194, I. 13) raise a substantial issue as to a material fact 

whether the faculty at Roosevelt High School was negligent in 

permitting the publication and should have known that the student's 

speech was false. 

3. Issues as to Assignment of Error No.3. 

(a) If a statement that is normally opinion implies 

defamatory facts as the United States Supreme Court found in 

Milkovich v. Lorain Journal Co., 497 U.S. 1,111 L.Ed.2d 1,110 S.Ct. 

2695, is the finding of the trial court correct that it is a "non-actionable 

opinion" and not defamatory as a matter of law, and 
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(b) Should the issue of implication of defamatory 

statements in this statement couched in the form of an opinion, an 

issue that should have been presented to the jury and is it a 

substantial issue as to a material fact precluding summary judgment. 

4. Issues as to Assignment of Error No.4 

(a) Is this finding of the trial court contrary to RCW 

4.96.010 entitled RCW 4.96.010 entitled "Tortious Conduct of Local 

Governmental Entities - Liability for Damages," which provides as 

follows: 

(1) All local governmental entities, whether acting in a 
governmental or proprietary capacity, shall be liable for 
damages arising out of their tortious conduct, or the 
tortious conduct of their past or present officers, 
employees, or volunteers while performing or in good 
faith purporting to perform their official duties, to the 
same extent as if they were a private person or 
corporation. 

(b) Has this statute quoted eliminated all school 

districts immunity for torts committed by the District and its officers, 

employees and volunteers, or can the District be liable for defamation 

of non-students. 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Statement of Facts and Procedures 

This is a libel case brought by plaintiffs Drake and Antoinette 

Sisley. It was filed because of false publication on two separate 
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occasions (CP 200 and CP 166) that plaintiffs were slumlords and 

owned "slums" and "run-down" residences in Seattle's Roosevelt 

neighborhood. The publications were particularly damaging to Drake 

and Antoinette because they have been active in the Roosevelt 

community, operate a small business there, and also because they 

have, for many years, owned and operated well-maintained apartment 

and rental properties (CP 198), primarily in the University District near 

the UW campus (CP 194, 202, 203, 205). Both of the defamatory 

articles were published in The Roosevelt News, the official, award

winning newspaper of Roosevelt High School. The first publication 

was in 2003, an article entitled "Questionable Landlord Perpetuates 

Roosevelt's Slums," (CP 200). In this article there is a reference to 

"the locally renowned brothers, Hugh and Drake Sisley," and "the 

Sisley brothers are the kings of the local slum," and "the houses that 

surround the school have once again begun to crumble back into a 

shamefully shanty existence," and "their monopoly on the run-down 

homes that surround Roosevelt is worth an estimated $14 million 

which ranks them among the top three slumlords in the city." 

These statements were all false. Neither Drake nor Antoinette 

Sisley have ever, at any time, owned any interest in the run-down 

houses that surround Roosevelt High School (CP 194-212). It is true 

that these are slums, and "run-down houses" and "shameful shanties" 

but the sole owner of these is and at all times has been Hugh Sisley. 
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(CP 194.) Hugh is Drake's brother, but neither Drake nor Antoinette 

have any ability to control or do anything about his ownership, 

management or control of these slum properties. (CP 194-212.) 

When Drake saw the 2003 article he was upset and 

concerned, and went to the school and spoke to the Roosevelt High 

School principal (CP 194) and explained the ownership of the slum 

properties. The principal took notes and promised that it would not 

happen again. Drake said to the principal, "if it happens again we'll 

sue you." (CP 194.) 

In 2009 it happened again, and this article entitled, "Sisley 

Slums Cause Controversy," was even worse. It was published in The 

Roosevelt News in 2009. (CP 166.) This publication referred to 

"crack shacks" and "ghetto houses ... owned by the infamous landlords, 

Drake and Hugh Sisley." The article continues, " ... the brothers have 

acquired 48 housing and building maintenance code violations." 

Two photos of the houses bear the caption, "Sisley Slums." 

Plaintiffs brought this suit against Seattle Public Schools ("the 

District"), a local government entity that by RCW 4.96.010 entitled, 

"Tortious Conduct of Local Governmental Entities - Liability for 

Damages," is liable for damages arising out of the tortious conduct of 

their past or present officers, employees or volunteers while 

performing their official duties to the same extent as if they were a 

private person or corporation. 
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Several points should be emphasized: 

(a) The Washington cases define as libel per se a written 

publication "which tends to expose any living person to hatred, 

contempt, ridicule or obloquy, or to deprive the person of the benefit 

of public confidence or social intercourse or to injure the person's 

business or occupation. 1 

(b) This libel was published. The printing company printed 

1,200 copies, most of which were distributed to students and faculty, 

but 150 copies were mailed to the subscribers of The Roosevelt 

News. It was also on the Roosevelt High School website (Internet) 

and accessible by anyone without the necessity of a password. 

(CP 170.) 

(c) The Roosevelt News, though a high school newspaper, 

is the official publication of Roosevelt High School. It is not an 

"underground" newspaper. The articles are written by the students for 

credit, and the classes are described in the school bulletin as 

"Advanced Journalism-1 1/2 credit each semester." (CP 176.) 

(d) The fault standard which plaintiffs must prove is 

negligence and not malice, because plaintiffs are private persons and 

are neither "public figures" nor "limited purpose public figures," under 

the United States Supreme Court cases. As the court is aware, 

1 Spangler v. Glover, 50 Wn.2d 473,313 P.2d 354,313 P.2d 354 (1957); 
Caruso v. Local Union 690, 100 Wn.2d 343; 670 P.2d 240 (1983). 
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beginning with New York Times v. Sullivan 2 case, a claim that a 

public figure has been defamed requires proof of actual malice. In the 

case at bar, plaintiffs attached to their brief a 5-page appendix entitled 

"Public Figure Issues" (CP 148-152) covering the issue in the event 

the defendants were to claim that plaintiffs were "limited purpose 

public figures." This appendix became unnecessary because 

defendant conceded that plaintiffs are private figures. 

D. ALLEGED "LINKAGE" TO KEITH GILBERT 

In a remarkable attempt to establish guilt by association, the 

defendant claimed repeatedly in its opening brief on the summary 

judgment motion that both Sisley brothers had retained as their 

property manager a convicted white supremicist, Keith Gilbert. 

Defense counsel had taken an extensive deposition of Drake Sisley 

on June 7, 2012, just a few weeks before preparing the brief on the 

summary judgment motion. In that deposition, defense counsel 

attempted unsuccessfully for 50 pages (CP 43-68) to "link" Drake 

Sisley to the felon white supremicist, Keith Gilbert. Drake explained 

at length that his dealings with Gilbert were minimal and that Gilbert 

had never served as a "property manager" for Drake, and that the only 

business dealings Drake had ever had with Gilbert was when Gilbert 

leased a building from Drake for a period of nine months, until Drake 

2 376 U.S. 254; 84 S.Ct. 710; 11 L.Ed.2d 686 (1964). 
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terminated the lease. See for example, the following from the Drake 

Sisley deposition: 

By Mr. Freimund, CP 43: 

Q: So other than being a tenant of yours, you had 
no other relationship with Keith Gilbert? 

A: That is correct. 

Q: Ok, what was the time period that Keith Gilbert 
rented this nine-room rooming house from you? 

A: It was in the early 1990s. I'd have to get to my 
notes before I could tell you that. 

Q: Was it for 10 years or more that he rented 
property from you? 

A: Oh, no. It was less than a year. 

By Mr. Freimund, CP 44: 

Q: If you were dissatisfied with Mr. Gilbert as a 
tenant, even though he was paying the rent, and 
you didn't want him to live there, would you be 
able to give him 3~-days notice and say 'you 
have to leave the premises, I don't need to tell 
you why, you're out of here'? 

A: That happened. 

Q: So you did have that authority. 

A: Yes, I did. 

Q: Now you exercised that authority, it sounds like. 
A: Yes, I did. 

Q: When did you exercise that authority? 

A: When I discovered that he was getting paid from 
both sides. He was getting paid from the tenant. 
He was also collecting from the State for hard-to
place people from the Department of Corrections 
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and he got that and he was making twice as 
much money as I thought he should make and I 
called him on it. 

Q: Approximately when did that happen, where you 
told him he needed to leave. 

A: That was within a year of when I signed the 
lease. He wasn't there for a full year. Nine 
months, about. 

Defense counsel remained unconvinced, and in its brief under 

the title "Property Manager for Some of Drake and Hugh Sisleys' 

Rental Properties was a Convincted White Supremicist," devoted four 

pages of outright falsehoods about this alleged "linkage" to Gilbert.3 

See for example at CP 12: " ... plaintiff Drake Sisley and his 

brother, Hugh, have been known as being among the worst 'slum 

lords' in the Seattle area and for using a convicted white supremicist, 

Keith Gilbert, to manage some of their rental properties." (Emphasis 

supplied.) And at CP 14: "Mr. Gilbert's harassment and violence 

toward others continued after he became associated with the Sisley 

brothers." (Emphasis supplied.) 

At CP 16: "Drake Sisley acknowledges that Keith Gilbert 

managed one of his properties located about a mile from Roosevelt 

High School. 

3 If defense counsel were offering this in an attempt to suggest that Drake 
Sisley's reputation had already been sullied by years of false reports that Drake was 
associated with Gilbert, that would be understandable. The problem is that defense 
counsel, despite the multiple denials of such a "linkage" with Gilbert, was telling the 
court without referring to the denials in Drake's deposition, that the "linkage" was a 
fact. 
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During this extensive deposition, Drake Sisley corrected Mr. 

Freimund so many times in his assertions that Gilbert was a 

"manager" for Drake Sisley, the following occurred at CP 68: 

Q: No, but you are linked to him as being your 
property manager, he being your property 
manager who engaged in these racist policies, 
correct? 

A: So, even you can't keep it straight. He never 
was my property manager. He was a tenant. 

Plaintiffs believed that the necessary elements of falsity, 

unprivileged communication, fault and damages had been established 

and were prepared for jury trial. 

Disagreeing, defendant District filed a motion for summary 

judgment based upon 9 separate arguments as follows: 

(a) That pursuant to the doctrine of virtual 

representation/collateral estoppel the final dismissal of a separate 

libel action (Hugh Sisley v. Seattle Public Schools)4 required dismissal 

of Drake and Antoinette's claim. (CP 21.) The trial court rejected this 

argument. (CP 233, I. 9.) 

(b) That defendant Seattle Public Schools owes no duty to 

non-students, such as the plaintiffs to protect them from harm. The 

trial court accepted this argument. (CP 233, I. 14.) 

4 Washington Court of Appeals, Division One Unpublished Opinion No. 
67552-4-1 . (Copy at CP 221-230.) 
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(c) That the defendant Seattle Public Schools is not 

vicariously liable for a student's defamatory speech. This was not 

really an issue in the case. Plaintiffs did not sue the student who had 

written the article, nor did plaintiffs at any point claim that the student 

was an agent of the District. The trial court accepted this defense 

argument. (CP 233, I. 17.) 

(d) That the First Amendment rights of a student prohibit 

censorship of a student's speech unless it "disrupts the educational 

environment." The trial court accepted this defense argument. (CP 

233, I. 22.) 

(e) That expressions of opinion are protected under the 

First Amendment and not actionable as defamation. The trial court 

accepted this defense argument. (CP 234, I. 1) 

(f) That plaintiffs are unable to prove the alleged libelous 

statements are false. The trial court rejected this defense argument. 

(CP 234, I. 4.) 

(g) That plaintiffs are unable to prove that the District was 

at fault for the student's speech and knew, or should have known the 

speech was false. The trial court accepted this defense argument. 

(CP 234, I. 8.) 

(h) That plaintiffs were unable to prove the article caused 

damage to plaintiffs' reputation. The trial court rejected this defense 

argument. (CP 234, I. 12.) 
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(i) That plaintiffs were unable to prove that plaintiff 

Antoinette Sisley was a target of the alleged defamation. The trial 

court accepted this defense argument. (CP 234, I. 15.) 

E. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Summary judgment orders are reviewed de novo and the 

appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Wilson 

v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437,656 P.2d 1030 (1982). 

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, affidavits, 

depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file show 

that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving 

party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (CR 56(c).) Hansen 

v. Hom Rapids, O.R. v. Park, 85 Wn.App. 424,932 P.2d 724 (1997). 

The burden is on the moving party to establish that there is no 

substantial material fact issue. Goad v. Hambridge, 85 Wn.App. 98, 

931 P.2d 200 (1997). The motion should be granted if, after review 

of the pleadings, depositions, admissions and affidavits and all 

reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most 

favorable to the non-moving party, it can be stated as a matter of law 

that (1) there is no genuine issue as to any material fact, (2) all 

reasonable persons could reach only one conclusion and (3) the 

moving party is entitled to judgment. Island Air, Inc. v. LaBar, 18 

Wn.App. 129,566 P.2d 972 (1977); Bernal v. Honda Motor Co., 11 

Wn.App. 903, 527 P.2d 273 (1974). 
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In ruling on the motion, the court's function is to determine 

whether a genuine issue exists, not to resolve existing factual issues. 

Fleming v. Smith, 64 Wn.2d 181,390 P.2d 990 (1964); Ashcraft v. 

Wallingford, 17 Wn.App. 853, 565 P.2d 1224 (1977). Mere surmise 

that the plaintiff may not prevail at trial is insufficient to sustain a grant 

of summary judgment. Meadows v. Grant's Auto Brokers, 71 Wn.2d 

874,431 P.2d 216 (1967). 

F. ARGUMENT 

1. Assignment of Error No.1. 

The District contended in its opening brief on the summary 

judgment motion that under the First Amendment, the rights of a 

student prohibited the Districtfrom censorship ofthe student's speech 

unless it "will materially and substantially disrupt the work and 

discipline of the school." (CP 26.) This was, in the opinion of 

plaintiffs' counsel, a distortion of United States Supreme Court 

decisions which permit, and even require such censorship if the 

student's publication is libelous and accordingly constitutes an 

"invasion of the rights of others." This important clause in both the 

Hazelwood and Tinker opinions, supra, "invades the rights of others" 

did not appear in the defendants' brief on the summary judgment 

motion. The trial court ruling on p. 2, lines 18-22 does not address 

this issue other than by adding an X to the word "granted" and finding 

that plaintiffs would be "unable to prove" that the District should have 
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censored the speech. (CP 233, I. 18.) The trial court did not address 

either the defendant's contention that censorship is not permitted 

unless the educational environment is disturbed or the plaintiffs' 

contention that the libelous statements invaded the rights of the 

plaintiffs and were thus outside the First Amendment. This is the first 

and most important issue to be discussed in this brief. 

Right & Duty to Censor Libelous Material 

The right of a District to control student conduct is covered in 

the Supreme Court decision in Tinker v. Des Moines Independent 

Comm. School Dist., 393 U.S. 503, 89 S.Ct. 733, 21 L.Ed.2d 731 

(1969). In that case, the students began a practice of wearing black 

armbands protesting the Vietnam War. This was considered 

offensive by school officials, who prohibited the armbands. The 

students' first amendment rights were upheld by the United States 

Supreme Court in Tinker, holding that it was an exercise of legitimate 

free speech. This Tinker decision did not limit its ruling to the 

proposition that a school district could not control student conduct 

unless it disrupted the educational environment. The Tinkerdecision 

concluded at p. 513: 

... conduct by the student, in class or out of it, which 
for any reason - whether it stems from time, place or 
type of behavior - materially disrupts class work or 
involves substantial disorder or invasion of the rights of 
others is, of course, not immunized by the constitutional 
guarantee offreedom of speech. (Emphasis supplied.) 
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A number of decisions, both in the United States Supreme 

Court and in the federal courts around the country have announced 

the rule that students have First Amendment rights that can be 

restricted if exercise of those rights disrupts the educational 

environment. But these decisions include, and the defendant's brief 

ignored, the additional qualification that the student rights can and 

should be limited if the exercise of those rights constitutes "invasion 

of the rights of others." See, for example, Saxe v. State College Area

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