69316-6

69316-6

NO. 69316-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

DRAKE H. SISLEY and ANTOINETTE L. SISLEY, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS, a local government entity,

Defendant/Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SEATTLE SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1

JEFFREY A.O. FREIMUND WSBA No. 17384 Freimund Jackson Tardif & Benedict Garratt, PLLC 711 Capitol Way South, Suite 602 Olympia, WA 98501 (360) 534-9960 Attorneys for Defendant/Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts engage in the same CR 56 inquiry as the trial court when reviewing summary judgment orders. *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wn.2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). Summary judgment should be affirmed if there is no genuine issue of material fact, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*

A defendant is entitled to summary judgment when "that party shows that there is an absence of evidence supporting an element essential to the plaintiff's claim. The defendant may support the motion by merely challenging the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence as to any such material issue." *Las v. Yellow Front Stores*, 66 Wn. App. 196, 198, 831 P.2d 744 (1992).

Summary judgment plays a "particularly important role" in defamation cases because "[s]erious problems regarding the exercise of free speech and free press guaranteed by the First Amendment are raised if unwarranted lawsuits are allowed to proceed to trial." *Mark v. Seattle Times*, 96 Wn.2d 473, 485, 635 P.2d 1081 (1981). When a defendant in a defamation action moves for summary judgment, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing specific, material facts that would allow a jury to find every element of defamation exists. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 197, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

B. Public School Districts Owe a Duty to Protect Students from Foreseeable Harm, but Do Not Owe a Duty to Protect the General Public from Harm by Students

Washington law squarely holds public school districts do not owe an actionable tort duty to protect members of the public from harm by students. *Jachetta v. Warden Joint Consolidated Sch. Dist.*, 42 Wn. App. 819, 824, 176 P.3d 545 (2008) (school districts owe a duty to protect students from foreseeable harm, but do not owe a duty to protect nonstudents, including parents of students). Liability to students is based on the special relationship schools have with students in their custody. *McLeod v. Grant County Sch. Dist.*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 319-20, 255 P.2d 360 (1952). Students are compelled to attend school and to obey school rules. *Id.* As a result of this custodial relationship, school districts have a duty to protect students from foreseeable harm. *Id.*

This special relationship duty to protect students in a school's custody is an exception to the general rule. "As a general rule, there is no

16

duty to prevent a third party from intentionally harming another unless 'a special relationship exists between the defendant and either the third party or the foreseeable victim of the third party's conduct.'" *Niece v. Elmview Group Hm.*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (quoting cases). Exceptions where a special relationship duty may arise are: (1) the defendant has a special relationship <u>duty to protect</u> the victim of a tortfeasor's conduct; or (2) the defendant has a special relationship <u>duty to control</u> a tortfeasor's conduct. *Id*.

A school's <u>duty to protect</u> students in its custody from intentional harm by third parties is a product of the special relationship arising from "the placement of the student in the care of the defendant with the resulting loss of the student's ability to protect himself or herself." *Niece*, 131 Wn.2d at 44.

Other relationships falling into the general group of cases where the defendant has a special relationship with the victim are also protective in nature, historically involving an affirmative duty to render aid. The defendant may therefore be required to guard his or her charge against harm from others. Thus a duty may be owed from a carrier to its passenger, from an employer to an employee, from a hospital to a patient, and from a business establishment to a customer.

Id.

Schools do not have a special relationship duty to protect nonstudent, third persons in the community because, unlike students in the school's custody, third persons in the community have not been placed in the school's care and custody with the resulting loss of ability to protect themselves. *See id.* Therefore, as the *Jachetta* court held as a matter of law, school districts do not owe a duty to protect non-student, members of the public from harm caused by school students. *Jachetta*, 142 Wn. App. at 824. The duty to protect is owed only to students. *Id.*

The other special relationship exception, in which the defendant has a special relationship duty to control a tortfeasor, is also inapplicable. "One who takes charge of a third person whom he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the third person to prevent him from doing such harm." Aba Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn.2d 441, 448, 128 P.3d 574 (2006) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 319). However, "[t]he mere existence of some ability to control a third party is not the dispositive factor in determining whether a take charge duty exists; rather, the purpose and extent of such control defines the relationship for purposes of tort liability." Id. at 453. For example, the purpose and extent of control criminal justice agencies have over charged or convicted criminals is to protect the public from harm by criminals known to be likely to cause harm if not controlled, so parole and probation officers who "take charge" of criminals may have a duty to control those criminals from committing

further criminal acts. *Id.* at 448-54 (explaining *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 822 P.2d 243 (1992), and its progeny).

In contrast, the purpose and extent of control the Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") has over dependent children placed in its custody by court order is to protect the safety of those children, not to protect the public from harm caused by those children. *Id.* at 453-54. Thus, the *Aba Sheikh* court held DSHS owes no duty to protect third persons from intentional torts committed by dependent children.² *Id.*

The same is true here. The purpose and extent of control school districts have over students is to use reasonable care to protect the safety of students while temporarily in the schools' custody, not to protect the public from harm caused by those children. *See Jachetta*, 142 Wn. App. at 824. The relationship between school students and school officials is substantially different than the relationship between criminals on parole and their parole officers. The teacher-student relationship does not exist because a child has a history of harming members of the community that is likely to be repeated if not controlled, unlike the relationships at issue

² The question of whether a defendant owes a duty to prevent a third person from causing harm to a plaintiff is analyzed under the two common law "special relationship" exceptions imposing either a protective duty to prevent harm to a plaintiff in the defendant's custody, or a supervisory duty to control a dangerous third person the defendant has "taken charge" of, rather than under the public duty doctrine applicable to government regulatory functions. *See, e.g., Aba Sheikh,* 156 Wn.2d at 448; *Niece,* 131 Wn.2d at 43-44; *Taggart,* 118 Wn.2d at 218 n.4.

in *Taggart* and progeny. All of the Washington cases imposing a "take charge" duty to control involved situations where a law enforcement officer had the authority and ability to seek further confinement of criminals placed in the officer's custody by court order due to past misconduct. *See Terrell C. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 120 Wn. App. 20, 28, 84 P.3d 899, *review denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1018 (2004) (citing cases). Indeed, to establish liability in such cases, the plaintiff must prove not only breach of the duty to control, but also that the plaintiff's assailant would have been confined at the time the plaintiff was damaged had the duty to control been met, thus the harm would not have occurred. *Estate of Borden v. Dep't of Corrections*, 122 Wn. App. 227, 240-44, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), *review denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1003 (2005).

The purpose and extent of control school districts have over students does not support finding a "take charge" relationship akin to the relationship between criminals on parole and their parole officers. *Cf. Aba Sheikh*, 156 Wn.2d at 453. As was similarly held in *Aba Sheikh*, the purpose and extent of school districts' ability to control students is to prevent foreseeable harm to those children, not to protect the general public from harm by those children. *See id.*

Additionally, for public policy reasons, schools should not be subject to potential liability for failing to treat students as criminals by taking significant steps to restrict their freedoms in order to protect the public from harm by students. *Cf. Aba Sheikh*, 156 Wn.2d at 451-52 (analyzing similar public policy concerns in the context of dependent children). Further, imposing a duty on public school districts to control student speech to protect the public from students' alleged defamations would open the proverbial floodgates because children often say cruel things about others. *Cf. Bratton v. Calkins*, 73 Wn. App. 492, 502, 870 P.2d 981, *review denied*, 124 Wn.2d 1029 (1994) (imposing liability on school districts for intentional torts of employees would be a "far-reaching" expansion of liability that "is more appropriately the function of the Legislature").

First Amendment law is in accord. Public school districts may be liable to students for attempting to control or censor students' speech in violation of their First Amendment rights. *Tinker v. Des Moines Indep. Community Sch. Dist.*, 393 U.S. 503, 506, 89 S.Ct. 733, 21 L.Ed.2d 731 (1969) (school district liable to students for requiring removal of black arm bands in protest of Vietnam War). But no authority holds public school districts may be liable to non-student members of the public for failing to control or censor students' First Amendment protected speech. The trial court correctly ruled, therefore, that "[a]s a matter of law, public school districts owe a duty to protect students from foreseeable harm, but do not owe a duty to protect non-students, such as [the Sisley] plaintiffs, from a student's alleged defamation." CP 233.

On appeal, the Sisleys address this duty issue by claiming the *Jachetta* court did not decide whether school districts owe a duty to protect non-student members of the public from harm caused by a student in the school's custody. BA, pp. 28-29. Yet, the *Jachetta* court affirmed dismissal of two of the three plaintiffs' claims (*i.e.*, the parents of a student allegedly harmed by another student), squarely holding they "are not students ... [a]nd the School District therefore has no duty to protect" them, but the school district did owe a duty to protect the plaintiff student from foreseeable harm. *Jachetta*, 142 Wn. App. at 824. The *Jachetta* court went on to hold the risk of harm to the plaintiff student by another student was unforeseeable. *Id.* at 825-27. Thus, the Sisleys are mistaken that *Jachetta* "focused entirely on foreseeability" BA, p. 28.

The Sisleys' only other argument in support of creating an unprecedented tort duty to protect the public from students' intentional torts is that the Legislature waived sovereign immunity for school districts in RCW 4.96.010, making school districts liable for their tortious conduct to the same extent as private persons or corporations. BA, p. 29. But this statute does not alter a plaintiff's burden to prove the elements of whatever tort is alleged. *See LaPlante v. State*, 85 Wn.2d 154, 159, 531 P.2d 299 (1975) (a statutory waiver of sovereign immunity "merely provides a

remedy. It does not, in and of itself, establish a right to recover. The basic elements of an alleged tort must still be established before" a governmental entity is deemed liable). Thus, a waiver of sovereign immunity does not absolve the Sisleys of their burden to establish the school district owed them an actionable tort duty to prevent a student from committing an alleged intentional tort. The Sisleys' reliance on RCW 4.96.010 is misplaced.

.

C. The Sisleys Are Unable to Prove the School District Is Vicariously Liable for a Student's Speech

The Sisleys did not sue the person who allegedly defamed them - *i.e.*, the student who wrote the article.³ Instead, they sued only the school district, suggesting the school district is either directly liable for failing to protect the Sisleys from the student reporter's alleged defamation, or vicariously liable for the student's alleged defamation under the *respondeat superior* doctrine applicable in agency law.⁴

As discussed above with respect to the school district's alleged direct liability for harm caused by another, the trial court correctly ruled

 $^{^3}$ There is a two year statute of limitation for defamation actions. RCW 4.16.100(1). The article at issue was published in March 2009. CP 126. Thus, a lawsuit against the student author is now time-barred.

⁴ Drake Sisley testified the student reporter was used as "a tool" or manipulated by someone in the school district or the City who wants to take over the Sisleys' rental properties. CP 70-71. On appeal, however, the Sisleys state vicarious liability "was not really an issue in the case" and assign no error to the trial court's ruling that the school district is not vicariously liable for the student's alleged defamation. BA, pp. 1-2, 12.

school districts do not owe an actionable tort duty to protect the general public from alleged harm caused by students. CP 233. With respect to vicarious liability for harm allegedly caused by students, the trial court also correctly ruled school districts are not vicariously liable for students' alleged torts. *Id.* To the extent vicarious liability remains an issue despite the Sisleys' decision not to assign error to this ruling, the trial court's rejection of vicarious liability in this context should be affirmed.

As a matter of law, school students are not agents or employees of a school. *See Rhea v. Grandview School Dist.*, 39 Wn. App. 557, 561, 694 P.2d 666 (1985); *Owasso Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Falvo*, 534 U.S. 426, 433, 122 S.Ct. 934, 151 L.Ed.2d 896 (2002). Vicarious liability fails on this ground alone.

Even if students were deemed agents of school districts, there is no school liability for students' intentional torts. Defamation is an intentional tort. *Corey v. Pierce County*, 154 Wn. App. 752, 760, 225 P.3d 367 (2010). As a matter of law, an employer or principal is not vicariously liable for an employee's or agent's intentional torts because commission of an intentional tort that serves no interest of the principal is outside the scope of the agent's employment. *Bratton*, 73 Wn. App. at 502 (holding as a matter of law that a school district "is not vicariously liable for the intentional tortious actions" of school teachers). The student's article provided no

benefit to the school district because the student newspaper is "fully selffunded" with no revenue going to or from the school district. CP 112-13. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's uncontested ruling that "[a]s a matter of law, defendant Seattle School District is not vicariously liable for a student's allegedly defamatory speech." CP 233.

D. The Sisleys Are Unable to Show Censorship of the Student's Speech Would Have Served a Valid Educational Purpose

The Sisleys' liability theory still fails even if the law were expanded to impose a duty on school districts to protect the public from students' intentional torts. Public school districts are governmental entities. *See, e.g.,* Title 28A RCW. When the government is a defendant in a defamation action, First Amendment interests are pronounced because the government may not regulate speech based on its substantive content or the message it conveys. *See Police Dep't of Chicago v. Mosley,* 408 U.S. 92, 96, 92 S.Ct. 2286, 33 L.Ed.2d 212 (1972). This axiom applies in the public school setting. Public school students do not "shed their constitutional rights to freedom of speech or expression at the schoolhouse gate." *Tinker,* 393 U.S. at 506.

Public schools are distinguishable from private media companies, which can be vicariously liable for defamation by their hired reporters. Private media companies have a right to control their employees' speech because they may censor their reporters' articles without running afoul of the First Amendment, unlike governmental entities such as public school districts, which are constrained from censorship by the First Amendment. *See, e.g., Single Moms, Inc. v. Montana Power Co.,* 331 F.3d 743, 746 (9th Cir. 2003) ("The United States Constitution protects individual rights only from *government* action, not from *private* action." [emphasis in original]). Professional reporters are paid employees for whom private media companies may be vicariously liable for failing to exercise the companies' right to control their employees' speech, while public school newspaper reporters are unpaid students whose speech is subject to First Amendment protection.

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